
 

 

      BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., August 26, 2025  

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. ROLL CALL 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 1st Printing – Tuesday, August 19, 2025 
 2nd Printing – Sunday, August 24, 2025 
 
III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES – August 12, 2025    

 

                                                                                                                 PAGE (S)                                                        

IV.     NEW BUSINESS  

1. Intent of Award ………………………………………………………………………………    1 - 6 

  IFB GHURA-25-10; Renovations of 9 Public Housing Units at 

  AMPs 1, 2 and 4 

2. Intent of Award ………………………………………………………………………………    7 - 9 

  IFB GHURA-25-001-CDBG-DR; Fleet Vehicles 

3. Resolution No. FY2025-027…………………………………………………………….  10 - 21 

Resolution approving the Guam Community Development Block 

Grant-Disaster Recovery Fraud Waste, and Abuse Policy 

4. Resolution No. FY2025-028 ……………………………………………………………  22 - 30  

Resolution approving the Guam Community Development Block 

Grant-Disaster Recovery Website Policy 

5. Resolution No. FY2025-029 …………………………………………………………...  31 - 43 

Resolution approving the Guam Community Development Block 

Grant-Disaster Recovery Duplication of Benefits Policy 

6. Resolution No. FY2025-030 …………………………………………………………... 44 - 51 

Resolution approving the Guam Community Development Block 

Grant-Disaster Recovery Policy Ensuring Timely Expenditures 

7. Resolution No. FY2025-031 …………………………………………………………... 52 - 60 

Resolution approving the Guam Community Development Block  

Grant-Disaster Recovery Program Income 

8. Resolution No. FY2025-032 …………………………………………………………… 61 - 70 

Resolution approving the Guam Community Development Block 

Grant-Disaster Recovery Conflict of Interest Policy 

 



 

 

 

V. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

1. Project Updates 

 

VI. GENERAL DISCUSSION / ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1. HR Item: Executive Management’s Performance Evaluations for: 

• Executive Director, Elizabeth F. Napoli  

(Rating Period: July 8, 2024 – July 7, 2025) 

• Deputy Director, Fernando B. Esteves 

(Rating Period: August 22, 2024 – August 21, 2025) 

2. Next proposed scheduled Board Meeting:  Tuesday, September 09, 2025 

 @ 12:00 p.m.   

 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 





 
 





 
 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 1 of 11 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., August 12, 2025 

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

Pursuant to the Open Government Law of Guam and the Bylaws of the Authority, the Board of 
Commissioners’ regularly scheduled board meeting was called to order at 12:10P.M., Tuesday, 
August 12, 2025, at the GHURA Sinajana Main Office, 1st floor Conference room. Vice Chairman 
Sanchez indicated that 5 of 6 members of the Board of Commissioners were present, 
representing a quorum and that the meeting would proceed as scheduled. 

 
Viewed 
virtually via 

ZOOM: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84097171653?pwd=HRJqCwgsz3vLWn650CYWfItKTNByQ1.1 

YOUTUBE: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCGqKWU0kOmT0FOLYn48ULag 

BOC 
Commissioners 
Attendance 
 

Dr. John Rivera, Chairman                                        Virtual             In-Person          
Nate Sanchez, Vice Chairman                                  Virtual             In-Person        
Anisia Delia, Commissioner                                      Virtual             In-Person            
Emilia Rice, Commissioner                                       Virtual             In-Person    
Victor Torres, Commissioner                                   Virtual             In-Person        
Karl Corpus, Resident Commissioner                     Virtual             In-Person       
*No Requests to attend meeting virtually were submitted via email  

GHURA 
Management/ 
Staff  

Elizabeth F. Napoli, Executive Director          Julie Lujan, MIS Administrator     Carlo Ongklungel, HR  
Fernando B. Esteves, Deputy Director           Sonny Perez, AE Manager             Tyler Mortera, PR  
Audrey Aguon, Special Assistant                     Frances Danieli, Controller           Talia Pablo, HR   
Narcissa Ada, AMP1 Manager                         Katherine Taitano, RP&E Chief Planner                            
Gina Cura, AMP2 Manager                              Dr. Kimberly Bersamin, HR Administrator                    
Patrick Bamba, AMP3 Manager                     Antonio Camacho, Procurement                    
Philomena San Nicolas, AMP4 Manager       Pearly Mendiola, GT Manager                          
Jolyn Terlaje                                                       Nicole Alejandro, Section 8 Administrator                                                                
Miguel Fernandez                                             Section 8 Staff and Fiscal Staff   
Michael Ricuyal                                                 Ervin Santiago, AE         Andrew Maglona, AE  
Maria Cherry Canete                                        Patrick Luces  
 

Legal Counsel Eliseo M. Florig Jr., Legal Counsel for GHURA   
 

Public Mr. Malcolm Stiles, Property Owner 
 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

              1st Printing – Tuesday, August 5, 2025 

   2nd Printing – Sunday, August 10, 2025 
 
   ACKNOWLEDGED BY ACTING CHAIRMAN SANCHEZ 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84097171653?pwd=HRJqCwgsz3vLWn650CYWfItKTNByQ1.1


 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 2 of 11 
 

III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES: [497/25] Commissioner Delia moved to 

approve the board meeting minutes of July 22, 2025. Commissioner Corpus 

seconded the motion. Motion passed unanimously.  

 

IV. NEW BUSINESS: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

1. Change Order #1- 
for Base Bid #1- 
GHURA-25-002; 
Renovation of 
MOD9 for AMPs 1, 2, 
and 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[498/25] Executive Director Napoli read 
Change Order #1- for Base Bid #1- 
GHURA-25-002; Renovation of MOD9 for 
AMP1, 2, and 4 on pages 1-2 in the GHURA 
Board of Commissioners (BoC) August 12, 
2025, meeting packet, which is also found 
on the GHURA website, www.ghura.org. 

 

Mr. Sonny Perez, AE Manager, added the 
following: 

• A fire occurred in the unit located at 
AMP1, Sinajana.  

• Unit was placed on the Modernization 
for Public Housing (MOD) list, which 
had units previously scheduled.  

• Procurement processed the work 
order and contract was awarded. 

• Contractor began work on the other 
units.  

• By the time work on the burned unit 
began, the water damages had 
become so severe. 

Acting Chairman Sanchez inquired about the 
status of the tenants in the unit. Mr. Andrew 
Manglona, AE Planner, stated that the 
tenants were relocated for the renovation.  

Commissioner Torres asked why the board 
did not direct the contractor to schedule 
work on the burned unit first? Mr. Manglona 
indicated that immediately after the fire had 
occurred at the unit, the AMP1 manager 
requested that the GHURA AE division assess 
the unit for the insurance. He said that it had 
been several years since the unit had been 
scheduled for MOD and it was decided to 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.ghura.org/


 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 3 of 11 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

waive the insurance and to add it to the list 
of units scheduled to be modernized.  

Commissioner Delia asked that AE specify 
which unit was scheduled for Change Order 
#1-GHURA-25-002- Renovation of MOD 9.  
Mr. Manglona indicated that it was located at 
3A Eron, AMP1, Sinajana.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[499/25] Commissioner 

Delia moved to approve 

Change Order #1- for 

Base Bid #1- GHURA-25-

002; Renovation of 

MOD9 for AMP1, 2, and 4 

to replace water 

damaged wood doors 

and jambs, bedroom 

closets in the amount of 

$5,000. Commissioner 

Rice seconded the 

motion. There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously.  



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 4 of 11 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

2. Change Order #1 for 
Base Bid #2-
GHURA-25-002; 
Renovation of 
MOD9 for AMPs 1, 2, 
and 4.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[500/25] Executive Director Napoli read 
the Change Order #1 for Base Bid #2-
GHURA-25-002; Renovation of MOD9 for 
AMPs 1, 2, and 4 on pages 3-4 in the 
Board of Commissioners (BoC) August 12, 
2025, meeting packet, which is also found 
on the GHURA website, www.ghura.org. 

 

Acting Chairman Sanchez asked how the 
contractor had not seen the work indicated 
in the Change Order? Mr. Manglona 
indicated that the issues were encountered 
during the intercepting of walls that were 
demolished. During the demolition, mold, 
mildew and corroded metals were 
discovered. Acting Chairman Sanchez 
requested that assessments happen on-site 
to prevent future change orders. Mr. Perez 
indicated that the issues would not have 
been discovered if the contractor had not 
been forced to demolish the wall revealing 
rot and black mold.  

Commissioner Torres asked if the costs were 
reasonable. Mr. Manglona confirmed that 
they were.  

Acting Chairman Sanchez requested for 
before and after photos for future projects.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[501/25] Commissioner 

Torres moved to approve 

Change Order #1 for 

Base Bid #2-GHURA-25-

002; Renovation of 

MOD9 for AMPs 1, 2, and 

4 in the amount of 

$44,900.00 to be done 

within thirty (30) 

calendar days ending on 

the deadline October 25, 

2025. Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously.  

http://www.ghura.org/


 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 5 of 11 
 

 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

AGENDA ITAM 
 

DISCUSSION ACTION 

1. Change Order #1- 
GHURA-25-001; 
Rehabilitation of 
Hagatna Soup 
Kitchen  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[502/25] Executive Director Napoli 
indicated that at the previous board 
meeting a question was presented about 
whether the purchase and installation of 
two air conditioner units were additional 
purchases on top of AC units that were 
previously approved. Director Napoli stated 
that the initial request was to replace two 
out of the four AC units that were 
inoperable. Two operating units had since 
broken down and another request to 
purchase and install was brought before the 
board as additional AC units. Mr. Perez 
confirmed that a total of four AC units had 
been requested before the board.  

Acting Chairman Sanchez asked when the units 
would be installed. Mr. Manglona indicated that 
the contract is ongoing and would be installed 
upon approval from the board. Acting 
Chairman Sanchez requested that the board be 
apprised on the progress of this project.  

Director Napoli indicated that at a previous 
board meeting, the board moved to approved 
item request numbers 2, 3, and 4 to avoid any 
delays. The approval included the four-tree 
cutting, debris and disposal, and the chain link 
fence repair. She asked if the board would now 
move to approve the two air conditioning units 
for $5,000.00. 

Commissioner Delia stated that she would 
make the motion.  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[503/25] 
Commissioner Delia 
moved to approve 
Change Order #1- IFB 
GHURA-25-001; 
Rehabilitation of 
Hagatna Soup Kitchen, 
item #1, the purchase 
and installation of two 
additional air 
conditioner units, 
12000 btu, in the 
amount of $5,000.00 
from the previous 
board meeting of July 
22, 2025. 
Commissioner Torres 
seconded the motion. 
There were no 
objections. Motion 
passed unanimously.  



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 6 of 11 
 

2. Intent of Award-
IFB GHURA-25-
008; Typhoon 
Shutters for AMP3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[504/25] Executive Director Napoli read the 
Intent of Award-IFB GHURA-25-008; 
Typhoon Shutters for AMP3, on pages 5-11 
in the GHURA Board of Commissioners 
(BoC) August 12, 2025 packet, also found on 
the GHURA website, www.ghura.org.  

 

Acting Chairman Sanchez asked whether the 
tenants were affected during Typhoon Mawar. 
Mr. Manglona stated that the maintenance staff 
and several tenants reported difficulty in 
closing the shutters.  

Acting Chairman Sanchez asked if AE 
recognized or anticipates this issue throughout 
the other AMP sites. Mr. Manglona stated that 
during the MOD renovations, if the team 
discovers that shutters have deteriorated, they 
will be replaced.  

Commissioner Rice asked for clarification on 
Genesis Tech Corp’s Non-Conformance result. 
Mr. Antonio Camacho, Housing Procurement 
Administrator, stated that the Non-
Conformance results indicates that the vendor 
did not meet the bid criteria and was 
considered non-responsive.  

Commissioner Torres inquired about how the 
shutters are maintained. Mr. Manglona stated 
that some of the shutters are salvaged for parts 
to repair other shutter units.  

Commissioner Delia asked if there were 
warranties on the shutters. Mr. Manglona 
indicated that the contract states an eighteen-
month warranty.  

Acting Chairman Sanchez inquired about 
whether the lifetime of the warranty would 
need to be included in the motion. Mr. Eliseo 
Florig, GHURA’s Legal Counsel, stated that the 
warranty would be included in the contract. He 
added that what is important to be included in 
the motion is the amount of the increase, date 
for completion, and specific date of completion.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[505/25] 

Commissioner Corpus 

moved to approve the 

Intent of Award-IFB 

GHURA-25-008; 

Typhoon Shutters for 

AMP3 to Premier 

International Inc., DBA 

Carpet Masters & The 

Shutter Factory in the 

amount of $946,959.00, 

with a timeline of 150 

consecutive calendar 

days with no option 

period and not to 

exceed the amount of 

$946,959.00. 

Commissioner Torres 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously. 

http://www.ghura.org/


 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 7 of 11 
 

VI. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

AGENDA ITAM 
 

DISCUSSION ACTION 

1. Project Updates 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[506/25] Executive Director Napoli stated 
the following: 

• A team from ICF, a technical assistance 
provider, working on behalf of HUD to 
support Guam in its administration of 
the CDBG-DR funding. 

• They are working with the CDBG-DR 
staff on providing assistance and 
support in understanding federal 
requirements and elements of program 
design to address the recovery needs. 

• GHURA met with ICF, Governor Leon 
Guerrero, and Lt. Governor Tenorio in 
the morning.  

• Training happening at UOG.  
 

No action taken 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 8 of 11 
 

VI. GENERAL DISCUSSIONS/ANNOUNCEMENTS 

AGENDA ITAM 
 

DISCUSSION ACTION 

 
1. HR Item- 

Executive 
Management 
Performance 
Evaluation for: 

• Executive 
Director 
Elizabeth F. 
Napoli- July 
8, 2024-
July 7, 
2025) 

• Deputy 
Director, 
Fernando 
B. Esteves-
August 22, 
2024-
August 21, 
2025 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[507/25] Dr. Kimberly Bersamin stated the 
following: 

• Courtesy update and reminder for the 
board members 

• Mandated to evaluate the Executive 
Director and Deputy Director 

• HR will compute both evaluations 
• Once completed, HR will report the 

results to the board 
• Director Napoli’s Performance 

Evaluation was due on July 8, 2025 
• Deputy Director Esteves’s Performance 

Evaluation is due on August 22, 2025. 
• Four out six evaluations have been 

submitted.  
• Hoped to report both results at the 

September 6, 2025 board meeting 

 

[508/25] Mr. Florig introduced Mr. Malcolm 
Stiles to the board and stated the following: 

• Mr. Stiles is currently an Asan property 
owner. 

• A part of his property encroaches on 
GHURA property and has a GWA water 
well system 

• Based on research done by the 
Community Development division, 
GHURA was not the only owner of the 
property. There was another owner.  

• GHURA has not had any success at 
contacting the other owner 

• Information of the other owner will be 
provided to the board once a response is 
given to Mr. Stiles. 

• 2 Options for Mr. Stiles: 
o If the owner is located: 

1. Change the property and give 
it to Mr. Stiles 

2. With regard to the boundary, 
sell the boundary line at FMV 

No action taken 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No action taken 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 9 of 11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

to Mr. Stiles resulting in a 
clear title.  

• GHURA will be responding to Mr. Stiles 
with a decision within the week.  

• He recommended that should Mr. Stiles 
have further questions for the board 
after receiving GHURA’s response, he 
may request to be added to the board 
agenda for the next BoC meeting.  

• He also recommended that the board 
not hear arguments on the merits of the 
case because nothing has been resolved 
and not until a decision is made with 
regard to this.  

 

[509/25] Mr. Malcolm Stiles, property 
owner, stated the following: 

• Issue is the boundary between his 
property and GHURA’s property, as 
recorded by Department of Land 
Management, is a small portion cuts 
through his home.  

• He approached GHURA with this issue 
years ago 

• Many years ago, GHURA was tasked 
with redeveloping Asan village 

• At the time, Asan was very 
underdeveloped 

• There was a severe flood 
• GHURA was charged with bringing Asan 

village into compliance and 
redeveloping it as a modern sub-
division.  

• This included surveying the village and 
recording it with the Department of 
Land Management.  

• The line that GHURA had established 
during the survey, cuts through a corner 
of his building.  

• He requested that GHURA fix it 
• In two years, he has had no response 

from GHURA. 

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 10 of 11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
2. Next proposed 

scheduled board; 
Tuesday, August 
26, 2025 @12PM  
 

Acting Chairman Sanchez reassured Mr. Stiles 
that the board would look into his concern and 
work with Mr. Florig to get his concerns 
rectified.  

 

 

 

[510/25] Acting Chairman Sanchez 
requested that commissioners mark their 
calendars. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of August 12, 2025                                                    Page 11 of 11 
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

  [511/25] 

Commissioner Torres 

moved to adjourn the 

August 12, 2025 

GHURA BoC meeting. 

Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

The motion passed. 

The meeting was 

adjourned at 1:11P.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
SEAL 
 
             ______________________________ 
       Elizabeth F. Napoli 
       Board Secretary/Executive Director 
   
       Date __________________________ 

    



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 1 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 2 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 3 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 4 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 5 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 6 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 7 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 8 of 70



Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 9 of 70



GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-027 

 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

 RESOLUTION APPROVING THE “FRAUD WASTE AND ABUSE POLICY” FOR THE 

 GUAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-DISASTER RECOVERY 

 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 GCA § 5104 the Board of Commissioners of the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (GHURA), is given the right and 
responsibility to govern and control the operations of the Authority, and to 
establish policies for its day-to-day operations, and generally to undertake 
its responsibilities as supreme authority for the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, 12 GCA § 5105(b), requires that GHURA comply with any Federal rules, 

requirements, regulations, or procedures and may execute declarations or 
other agreements or documents of every nature, as may be necessary, or 
required by the Federal Government and to fully comply with any conditions 
imposed by the Federal Government upon participation by GHURA in such 
programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 21, 2025, Guam was allocated the Community Development 

Block Grant-Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) in the amount of 
$500,825,000.00, to aid in the long-term recovery from Typhoon Mawar in 
May 2023, and the mitigation of future disasters to be administered by 
GHURA, and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to II.A.1.a of the Universal Notice (90 FR 4759), GHURA is 

required to have adequate policies and procedures to detect and 

prevent fraud, waste, and abuse; now, therefore be it, 
 

RESOLVED, that the Board approves the program specific “Fraud, Waste, and Abuse 
Policy” appended herewith, and shall be effective immediately; and be it 
further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Executive Director may approve amendments to this policy on behalf 

of the Board of Commissioners as may be necessary or required, and shall 
report amendments to the Board of Commissioners when exercising this 
authority; and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Deputy Director, designated as the Grant Manager, shall promulgate 

and have published subsequent procedures derived from this policy. 
 
 
 
 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 10 of 70



 
                      IN A SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – AUGUST 26, 2025 

                      PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

                      AYES:   

                      NAYES:   

                      ABSENT:   

                      ABSTAINED:   

 

                                                                                                 I certify that the foregoing is a full, true 

and correct copy of a Resolution duly 

adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of 

Commissioners on August 26, 2025.  

                                   (SEAL)  

                                        

              ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                                  Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 
    
  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 11 of 70



 

 

 

Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority  
Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 

Recovery  
 

FRAUD, WASTE, AND ABUSE POLICY  
 

Aug 14, 2025 

 

 

This policy is current as of August 14, 2025. This policy outlines the Guam Housing and Urban 
Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant-Disaster Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) 
guidelines for program staff in the identification and prevention of Fraud, Waste and Abuse 
(FWA). This policy will ensure consistency and clarity on the general guidance for program staff. 
This policy will be reviewed periodically and updated as necessary. Therefore, users are strongly 
encouraged to visit our website: www.guamcdbgdr.org to access the latest version. 
 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 12 of 70

http://www.cnmi-cdbgdr.com/


 

 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Approval of Amendment History ............................................................................................................ 3 

2.0 Purpose ................................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.1 Overview ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

2.2 Policy Statement ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.0 Definitions and Examples ........................................................................................................................ 4 

4.0 Roles & Responsibilities .......................................................................................................................... 6 

5.0  Trainings, Information,  Identification, and Prevention ......................................................................... 7 

6.0  Monitoring & Reporting ......................................................................................................................... 7 

7.0 Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................. 10 

8.0 Contact Information .............................................................................................................................. 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 13 of 70



 

 

1.0 Approval of Amendment History 
 

Version Date Amendment Reference 
Version 1.0 8/26/2025 Initial 

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

Amended By:  

 

Fernando B. Esteves 

Grant Manager 

 

 

Approved By: 

 

Elizabeth F. Napoli     Certifying Date 

Executive Director      

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 14 of 70



 

 

 2.0 Purpose 
 

The purpose of this Fraud, Waste, and Abuse Policy is to establish guidelines for the 
identification, prevention, and reporting of fraudulent activities within the program. This policy 
aims to protect the integrity of the programs and to ensure that services are provided fairly 
and equitably to all eligible individuals and families while safeguarding resources and ensuring 
compliance with statutory, regulatory, and ethical standards. More comprehensive processes 
and procedures will be provided in the Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) promulgated for 
the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority’s (GHURA) administration of the grant and its 
programs.  

 

2.1 Overview  
 

This policy outlines GHURA’s commitment to preventing, detecting, and addressing all forms 
of fraud, waste, and abuse that may negatively impact the integrity of the program purpose 
through the use of CDBG-DR resources. This program policy assures that it has instituted 
sufficient financial and operational controls to safeguard funds, while effectuating the 
reasonable and timely expenditure of funds. This policy applies to all employees, contractors, 
subrecipients and agents of the program, as well as applicants and beneficiaries of program 
funds. Accordingly, this policy governs any action relating to any irregularity, or suspected 
irregularity, involving employees, consultants, vendors, contractors, sub-recipients, sub-
grantees, applicants or outside agencies conducting and/or performing official business with 
employees of such agencies, and/or any other parties with a business relationship to CDBG-DR 
program activities. 

 

2.2 Policy Statement 
 

The GHURA administers federal funds for the Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 
Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) program allocated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD). Critical to its sound administration the corresponding fiduciary obligation 
to develop sufficient controls to provide reasonable assurance that address unmet 
needs identified through housing programs, public facilities, economic revitalization, 
mitigation and planning, and administration activities shall be properly managed pursuant to 
all applicable laws, regulations, and policies. 

 

3.0 Definitions and Examples 
 

Fraud: The intentional deception or misrepresentation made by an individual or entity with 
the knowledge that the deception could result in some unauthorized benefit to themselves 
or others. 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 15 of 70



 

 

Waste: The use of resources without efficiency or effectiveness causing a loss in program 
integrity. 

 

Abuse: Behavior that is inconsistent with the contractual, statutory, or regulatory standards 
monitored by the GHURA CDBG-DR, which may lead to an unauthorized benefit. 

 

Examples of Actions that Constitute Fraud, Waste, and Abuse include, but are not limited to: 
• Misrepresentation of:  

o Income (Unreported or under-reported);  
o Household composition;  
o Financial resources (transferred or hidden resources);  
o Residency; and/or  
o Citizenship status. 

• Other types of fraud include, but are not limited to:  
o Using another person’s identification;  
o Forging signatures or documents;  
o Concealing access to duplicate funding;  
o Misrepresenting a medical condition to obtain additional benefit; and/or  
o Misusing funds (diverting them for an unintended use).  

• Other actions constituting fraud, waste, and abuse include, but are not limited to:  
o Any deceitful, dishonest or fraudulent act; 
o Unauthorized disclosure of confidential or private information;  
o Impropriety in handling or reporting money or financial transactions;  
o Profiting as a result of insider knowledge; Disclosing confidential and proprietary 

information to outside parties; 
o Obtaining contracts through collusion and conspiracy; 
o Accepting or seeking anything of material value from contractors, vendors, or 

any person that seeks a beneficial decision, contract, or action from CDBG-DR or 
any subrecipient;  

o Accepting or seeking anything of material value from contractors, vendors, or 
any person that is providing services for CDBG-DR activities;  

o Misappropriation of funds, securities, supplies, or other assets; 
o Unnecessary cost or expenditures;  
o Diversion of program resources; 
o Theft or embezzlement; 
o False statements, illegal commissions, or kickbacks; 
o Destruction, removal, or inappropriate use of records, furniture, fixtures, and 

equipment; and/or 
o Any similar suspicious or related irregularity. 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 16 of 70



 

 

4.0 Roles & Responsibilities 
 

Grant Manager: Responsible for implementing the policies related to the prevention of fraud, 
waste, and abuse. Responsible for the investigation, resolution, or referrals of all cases involving 
contractors, subrecipients, applicants, awardees, and beneficiaries. The Grant Manager shall 
ensure all program staff, internal auditors, and subrecipients attend the CDBG-DR HUD OIG 
training, subject to availability. 

 

Lead Compliance Official: A designee who shall assist in monitoring adherence to this policy, 
conducts periodic sampling, lead and/or assists in investigations, reports findings, and makes 
recommendations to the Grant Manager for action involving a contractor, subrecipient, 
applicant, awardee, or beneficiary. 

Internal Auditor: An Internal Auditor shall be designated by the Grantee, who is the Governor 
of Guam, from within the Guam State Clearinghouse having the following responsibilities: 

• Conducts periodic program audits, discretionary in size and scope of any and all program 
activities, and reports findings and recommendations to the Grantee; 

• Advises program staff in their efforts to establish an organizational culture systemwide 
that enforces compliance, encourages prudent judgment, and emphasizes integrity in 
all levels and processes; 

• Assists program staff with the evaluation of internal controls used to detect and mitigate 
fraud, waste, and abuse, and to make recommendations to continually strengthen 
internal controls; 

• To evaluate the organizational risk for fraud, waste, and abuse, and pursue fraud, waste, 
and abuse investigations; 

• To assess the effectiveness of the control environment, its processes and procedures 
that mitigate the occurrence of fraud, waste, and abuse on an ongoing and continuous 
basis; 

• To make recommendations to program staff for improvement of key areas that expose 
a risk for fraud, waste, and abuse; 

• To maintain a professional, conducive environment with an open line of communication 
with the Grantee and GHURA’s executive director to facilitate the reporting of any and 
all fraudulent activities, behaviors, actions, or areas that present a risk of fraud, waste, 
and abuse involving program staff; and 

• To investigate fraud, waste, and abuse involving the Grant Manager and/or program 
staff, report investigative findings and make recommendations to the Grantee and 
GHURA’s Executive Director, and to refer cases for further investigation and action 
when appropriate. 

 

Program Staff: Conducts Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) throughout their 
processes, monitoring for FWA. Program Staff are required to report any suspected fraud, 
participate in training on fraud prevention, and comply with CDBG-DR FWA policy and 
procedures. 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 17 of 70



 

 

 

5.0  Trainings, Information,  Identification, and Prevention 

5.1 Training: All grantees receiving CDBG-DR funds for the first time shall attend and require 
subrecipients to attend fraud related training to assist in the proper management of CDBG-DR 
funds, and provide information to beneficiaries about possible fraudulent activities and how to 
avoid them. 
 

5.2 Accuracy of Information: All grantees receiving CDBG-DR funds shall be held responsible to 
verify the accuracy of information provided by applicants. The CDBG-DR program shall outline 
a process that establishes a criterion to be used when evaluating the capacity of potential 
subrecipients. 
 

5.3 Identification: GHURA commitment is to preserve and safeguard the public trust and adopt 
and promote systematic ethical organizational behavior by providing clear and compelling 
guidelines and assigning responsibility for the development of adequate controls and impartial 
conduct of investigations.  
 

5.4 Prevention: To prevent cases of fraud, waste, and abuse, the following actions shall be 
followed, to ensure enforcement of this policy.  

5.5 Program execution: The GHURA CDBG-DR program, contractors, developers, and/or 
subrecipients who receive CDBG-DR funds must establish a process or adopt GHURA CDBG-DR 
FWA Policy, to address fraud, waste, and abuse. 

5.6 Program oversight: Program staff shall be engaged in an ongoing process to monitor, 
inspect, audit, and assess the progress and quality of projects to ensure recipients of CDBG-DR 
funds meet the required standards, guidelines, and statutory obligations.  

5.7 Beneficiary Eligibility Verification: Conduct thorough eligibility verification processes for all 
applicants, including background checks and income assessments. 

5.8 Public Awareness: Inform the public about fraud, waste, and abuse, and provide clear 
communication on the consequences of fraudulent activities. 
 

6.0  Monitoring & Reporting  
 

6.1 Monitoring.  
 

All recipients of CDBG-DR resources shall establish provisions for monitoring and compliance 
with achievement of program/performance goals, prevention, and correction of deficiencies, 
and compliance with federal, state, and local regulations.  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 18 of 70



 

 

 

The CDBG-DR program shall define in its SOPs, the frequency of monitoring other entities that 
will administer CDBG-DR funds, how it will monitor subrecipients, contractors, and other 
program participants, and why monitoring is to be conducted. 

6.2 Whistleblower Protection  

All employees of the agency and subrecipients are obligated to protect whistleblowers and shall 
observe all applicable laws and regulations including but not limited to 41 USC 4712 and Chapter 
37 of Title 5 of the Guam Code Annotated. Whistleblower protection refers to the legal 
safeguards provided to individuals who report misconduct, illegal activities, or violations within 
organizations—whether in government, corporate, or nonprofit sectors. These protections are 
designed to shield whistleblowers from retaliation, such as termination, harassment, or 
demotion, and to encourage transparency and accountability. In essence, whistleblower 
protection aims to empower people to speak out against wrongdoing without fear of personal 
or professional harm, reinforcing ethical standards and public trust. 
 

 6.3 Reporting 

Any person, including any employee of the CDBG-DR Program, who suspects, witnessed, or 
discovered any fraud, waste, or abuse, relating to the CDBG-DR Program, should report it 
immediately by any of the means listed below. It is possible that a citizen may disclose acts of 
fraud, waste, or abuse of CDBG-DR funds to any CDBG-DR Program staff (e.g., at intake centers, 
program office, events, etc.). Therefore, any information received must be treated with extreme 
confidentiality and must be shared with the Guam CDBG-DR Internal Auditor or GHURA’s CDBG-
DR’s established procedure. The CDBG-DR’s ultimate goal is to establish that all information 
disclosed to any employee will not be rejected. 

 

a. Internal Reporting Any employee who has knowledge of or who has good reason to 
suspect that fraud, waste, or abuse has occurred shall adhere to the policies outlined 
below. 
 i. When suspected fraudulent activity, waste, or abuse is observed by, or made 
known to an employee, the employee shall immediately report the activity to the Lead 
Compliance Official/Grant Manager or designee.   
 ii. An employee shall not destroy, or allow to be destroyed, any document or 
record of any kind that the employee knows may be relevant to a past, present, or future 
investigation. An employee must be able to provide adequate information to support an 
investigation. Mere speculation does not suffice. The report must be made in good faith. 
An employee who knowingly makes a false or bad faith complaint will be subject to 
disciplinary and/or legal action. 
 iii. Alternative prompt reporting of fraudulent activity, waste, or abuse may be 
done via the CDBG-DR Division Fraud email or Hotline and the HUD Office of Inspector 
General (OIG).  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 19 of 70



 

 

b. External Reporting GHURA’s CDBG-DR cannot compel citizens and customers (non-
employees) to report suspected instances of fraud, waste, or abuse, however, GHURA’s 
CDBG-DR strongly encourages them to do so by: 
• Calling the GHURA CDBG-DR Fraud Hotline at 671-300-CDBG (2324); 
• Emailing fwa-dr@ghura.org; 
• Submitting the complaint form available online at www.guamcdbgdr.org; and/or 
• Contacting the HUD OIG at 1-800-347-3735 or via email at HOTLINE@hudoig.gov. 

 

 

c. Report Handling 
 i. FWA reports involving programs, contractors, awardees, beneficiaries, or 
subrecipients will be verified by the Grant Manager or Lead Compliance Official, 
and  addressed programmatically or referred to the appropriate authority. 
 ii.  FWA reports involving any program staff, inclusive of the Grant Manager, shall 
be routed directly and expeditiously to the Internal Auditor for verification and action.   

 

6.4 Verifications 

 

Upon receiving allegations or indications of FWA, program staff or the Internal Auditor shall 
initiate a structured review process to determine the credibility, scope, and severity of the issue.  

• Data from different documents shall be cross-verified to ensure consistency across each 
program. 

• After gathering information and conducting an investigation, the GHURA Lead 
Compliance Official, Grant Manager or the Internal Auditor shall document his/her 
findings, make recommendations, take corrective actions, or make referrals to an 
appropriate authority. 

 

6.5 Agency Decision 

 

The decision on how to handle suspected FWA shall be guided by the following principles: 

• Escalation and Referral: 
o If preliminary or internal audit findings indicate possible criminal conduct, gross 

mismanagement, or significant financial loss, the matter will be referred to the 
HUD Office of Inspector General (OIG) or appropriate law enforcement agency. All 
referrals will be documented, and all employees shall fully cooperate with external 
investigations. 

• Corrective Action and Recovery:  
o Based on investigative outcomes, the GHURA may implement corrective actions 

including disciplinary measures, recovery of disallowed costs, suspension or 
termination of contracts or subawards, and changes to policies or procedures to 
prevent recurrence. 

• Termination of Program/Contract/Agreement.  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 20 of 70

mailto:fixinsix@ghura.org
mailto:fwa-dr@ghura.org
http://www.guamcdbgdr.org/
mailto:HOTLINE@hudoig.gov


 

 

6.6 Notification of Agency Decision 
 
Upon conclusion of the structured review process and determination, the sub-recipient, 
contractor, applicant, or other, will receive written notification of the Final Agency Decision. The 
notice shall include: 

• The specific reasons for the decision; 
• Information on their right to appeal and how to appeal of the decision; and 
• A contact person or office for questions or further clarification. 

 
 
a. Administrative Action: If fraud is confirmed, take appropriate administrative actions, 
including the conversion of grants to loans, specifically CDBG-DR, possibility of terminating 
housing assistance and demanding repayment of funds. 
 
b. Referral to Authorities: If applicable, refer the case to law enforcement or other 
appropriate authorities for criminal prosecution. 

7.0 Conclusion 
 

By adhering to this Fraud, Waste, and Abuse Policy, GHURA CDBG-DR aims to uphold the highest 
standards of integrity and accountability in all of its operations. All staff and stakeholders are 
expected to fully support the prevention and identification of fraudulent activities, thereby 
ensuring the responsible use of public resources. 

 

8.0 Contact Information 

Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 
Authority 

(GHURA)  

Community Development Block 
Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-
DR)  

GHURA Main Office  
117 Bien Venida Ave. Sinajana, Guam 96910 

fwa-dr@ghura.org 

671-300-CDBG (2324) 

http://www.guamcdbgdr.org  

US Department of Housing & Urban 
Development (HUD) Office of 
Inspector General (OIG) 

  HUD OIG Hotline  
451 7th Street SW Washington, D.C. 20410 

HOTLINE@hudoig.gov 

 1-800-347-3735 

   https://www.hudoig.gov/hotline/ 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 21 of 70

http://guamcdbgdr.org/
mailto:HOTLINE@hudoig.gov
https://www.hudoig.gov/hotline/


GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-028 

 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE “WEBSITE MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT 
POLICY” FOR THE GUAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-DISASTER 
RECOVERY 

 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 GCA § 5104 the Board of Commissioners of the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (GHURA), is given the right and 
responsibility to govern and control the operations of the Authority, and to 
establish policies for its day-to-day operations, and generally to undertake 
its responsibilities as supreme authority for the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, 12 GCA § 5105(b), requires that GHURA comply with any Federal rules, 

requirements, regulations, or procedures and may execute declarations or 
other agreements or documents of every nature, as may be necessary, or 
required by the Federal Government and to fully comply with any conditions 
imposed by the Federal Government upon participation by GHURA in such 
programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 21, 2025, Guam was allocated the Community Development 

Block Grant-Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) in the amount of 
$500,825,000.00, to aid in the long-term recovery from Typhoon Mawar in 
May 2023, and the mitigation of future disasters to be administered by 
GHURA, and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to II.A.1.c of the Universal Notice (90 FR 4759), GHURA is 

required to have adequate policies and procedures to maintain a 
comprehensive and accessible disaster recovery website; now, 

therefore be it, 
 

RESOLVED, that the Board approves the program specific “Website Maintenance and 
Management Policy” appended herewith, and shall be effective immediately; 
and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Executive Director may approve amendments to this policy on behalf 

of the Board of Commissioners as may be necessary or required, and shall 
report amendments to the Board of Commissioners when exercising this 
authority; and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Deputy Director, designated as the Grant Manager, shall promulgate 

and have published subsequent procedures derived from this policy 
 
 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 22 of 70



 
 
                      IN A SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – AUGUST 26, 2025 

                      PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

                      AYES:   

                      NAYES:   

                      ABSENT:   

                      ABSTAINED:   

 

                                                                                                 I certify that the foregoing is a full, true 

and correct copy of a Resolution duly 

adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of 

Commissioners on August 26, 2025.  

                                   (SEAL)  

                                        

              ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                                  Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 
    

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 23 of 70



 

1 
 

 

Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority  
Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 

Recovery  
 

Website Maintenance and Management Policy 

 

Aug 14, 2025 

 

 
The policy stated herein is current as of August 14, 2025. This policy outlines the Guam Housing and 
Urban Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant-Disaster Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) 
guidelines for the program’s website. This policy  will serve as a central reference point for 
understanding operations, ensure consistency, and clarity on the general guidance on the maintenance 
and management pertaining to the CDBG-DR Program website. This policy  will be reviewed periodically 
and updated as necessary. Therefore, users are strongly encouraged to visit our website: 
www.guamcdbgdr.org to access the latest version. 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 24 of 70

http://www.guamcdbgdr.org/


 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Approval of Amendment History ..................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................................................ 4 

4.0 Requirements ................................................................................................................................... 5 

5.0 Public Comments ............................................................................................................................. 6 

6.0 Updates and Maintenance ............................................................................................................... 7 

7.0 Content Creation and Uploading ..................................................................................................... 7 

8.0 Conclusion ........................................................................................................................................ 7 

9.0 Contact Information ......................................................................................................................... 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 25 of 70



 

3 
 

1.0 Approval of Amendment History 

 

Version Date Amendment Reference 

Version 1.0 8/26/2025 Initial 
   

   
   

   

 

 

 

Amended By:  

 

Fernando B. Esteves 
Grant Manager 
 

 

Approved By: 

 

Elizabeth F. Napoli     Certifying Date 
Executive Director     
 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 26 of 70



 

4 
 

2.0 Purpose 

 
This Policy is provided as a general guide for designing, upgrading, and uploading content 
on the Guam Housing and Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant-
Disaster Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) website. 
 
 
2.1 The CDBG-DR Website Management Team consist of the: 

• Grant Manager; 

• Webmaster; 

• CDBG-DR Chief Planner; and 

• CDBG-DR Public Information Officer. 
 

2.2      All requests relating to uploading, removing, or updating the CDBG-DR website    
must be sent to the CDBG-DR email address:  fixinsix@ghura.org. 

3.0 Roles and Responsibilities 
 

Roles Responsibilities Details 

Grant 
Manager  

• CDBG-DR website 
content review and 
approval. 

• Reviews and approves 
content, as needed. 

Webmaster 
(GHURA MIS 
Designated 
Staff)  

• Design and manage 
CDBG-DR website. 

• Provide technical 
support. 

• Address internal 
web server issues. 

• Create and modify 
program related 
CDBG-DR web 
pages. 

• Sets standards and 
operations. 

• Ensures conformance to 
directives. 

• Responsible for posting 
and uploading of 
contents. 

• Maintains content 
updates. 

• Manages links. 
• Manages and oversees IT 

Help Desk. 

CDBG-DR 
Public 
Information 
Officer, 
CDBG-DR 
Chief Planner 

• Gathers approved 
CDBG-DR website 
contents and 
transmits them to 
Webmaster. 

• Coordinates CDBG-
DR website layout. 

• Receives division 
updates and other 
information that will be 
uploaded onto the 
CDBG-DR website and 
presents them to Grant 
Manager for review and 
approval. 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 27 of 70



 

5 
 

Roles Responsibilities Details 

• Directs and 
coordinates 
Troubleshooting 
with IT. 

• Transmits approved 
contents to Webmaster 
for posting/uploading to 
CDBG-DR website.  

CDBG-DR 
Public 
Information 
Officer 

• Content creation. 
• Periodic review of 

program-related 
content. 

• Responsible for providing 
accurate up- to-date 
content covering 
respective 
sections/divisions. 

• Graphic creation/artwork 
integration. 

4.0 Requirements 

 
The following Guam CDBG-DR website shall be updated quarterly unless otherwise specified 
herein: 
 
4.0.1 CDBG-DR Action Plan and Action Plan Substantial and Non-Substantial 

Amendments. 
4.1.1 Substantial Amendments must be prominently posted for public comment for no 

less than 30-days. Non-Substantial Amendments do not require public comment 
and will be posted on the CDBG-DR website five (5)-business days prior to its 
effective date.  

4.1.2 Once HUD approves the Action Plan (and any subsequent amendments), the 
Action Plan (and such subsequent amendments) must be posted within three 
(3)-calendar days on the CDBG-DR website. 

4.1.3 Approved Action Plan and Substantial/Non-Substantial Action Plan Amendments 
must be posted/uploaded to the CDBG-DR website in reverse chronological 
order (most recent first). 

4.1.4 Such Approved Amendments must be updated in the Disaster Recovery Grant 
Reporting (DRGR) system Action Plan. Once the DRGR Action Plan is approved, 
the CDBG-DR Chief Planner is responsible for submitting the approved DRGR 
Action Plan to the Webmaster (MIS Designated Staff) Team for uploading to the 
CDBG-DR Website. 

4.1.5 All material must be ADA compliant. This compliance will be administered by the 
delegated program staff under the direction of the CDBG-DR Grant Manager. 

 
 
4.1     Reports 
4.1.1 Quarterly Performance Reports (QPRs): The CDBG-DR Planning Division will be 

responsible for submitting the QPRs in DRGR.  After submitting in DRGR, the 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 28 of 70



 

6 
 

designated staff will download the QPR as a PDF and submitted to the Webmaster 
(MIS) Team for uploading to the CDBG-DR Website. 

4.1.2 QPR must be posted to the CDBG-DR website within three (3)-calendar days after 
submitting the QPR in the DRGR. 

4.1.3 QPRs must be posted to the CDBG-DR website in reverse chronological order 
(most recent first). 

4.1.4 QPRs must continue to be posted until all funds have been expended and all 
expenditures/activities have been reported. 

 
 
4.2       Program Operational Policies 
4.2.1 All CDBG-DR policies shall  be posted on the CDBG-DR website under the “Policies 

and Procedures” tab. 
4.2.2 Policies will be updated as necessary and posted to the CDBG-DR website.  
4.2.3 Policies will be reviewed annually for assurances and quality checks, in line with 

the program’s annual start date.  
4.2.4 CDBG-DR Chief Planner will provide an up-to-date list of CDBG-DR policies. 
 
 
4.3       Procurement 
4.3.1 GHURA procurement policy shall be posted on the CDBG-DR website under the 

“Procurement” tab. 
4.3.2 All CDBG-DR Request for Proposals (RFPs), Request for Quotes (RFQs), Invitation 

for Bid (IFBs), contracts, change orders, and amendments to those documents 
must be posted on the CDBG-DR website under the Procurement tab. 

4.3.3 Contracts not exceeding the Micro-Purchase thresholds and any amendments 
thereto must be posted quarterly following the full execution of these legal 
instruments. 

 
4.4 Points of Contact 
4.4.1 The “Contact Us” section is found at the bottom of each CDBG-DR web page. 
4.4.2 This section will also indicate the main GHURA Office address and GHURA’s CDBG-

DR Office on Guam and the contact information for each office. 
 
4.5 Citizen Participation Plan (CPP) 
4.5.1 CPP must be posted on the CDBG-DR website and updated as necessary.  
4.5.2 CPP Plan will be reviewed annually for assurances and quality checks, in line with 

the program’s annual start date. 
 

5.0 Public Comments 

 
The following will be posted to the CDBG-DR website to facilitate receiving public 
comments: 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 29 of 70



 

7 
 

5.0.1 An email address specifically for the purpose of receiving public comments for 
CDBG-DR: fixinsix@ghura.org. 

5.0.2 Mailing address for the GHURA CDBG-DR at GHURA Attn: CDBG-DR; 117 Bien 
Venida Ave.; Sinajana, Guam 96910. 

5.0.3 The CDBG-DR website will clearly identify individuals serving as the primary 
contact for all public comment related communications: GHURA Grant Manager / 
Public Information Officer. 

 

6.0 Updates and Maintenance  
 

Unless otherwise explicitly stated herein, updates to the website shall be made 
no more than quarterly.  
 

7.0 Content Creation and Uploading 
 
7.1  CDBG-DR Grant Manager, Chief Planner, and Public Information Officer are 

responsible for drafting and monitoring content for their respective CDBG-DR web 
pages on a quarterly basis.  

 
7.2. All content must be approved by the Grant Manager or Designee prior to content 

upload to the CDBG-DR website. 
 
7.3 The CDBG-DR Public Information Officer will transmit approved content to 

Webmaster for posting/uploading. 

8.0 Conclusion 
By adhering to this Website Maintenance and Management Policy, GHURA CDBG-DR aims to 
comply with the Universal Notice and federal guidelines. 

9.0 Contact Information 
 

Guam Housing Renewal Authority 
(GHURA)  

Community Development Block 
Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR)  

GHURA Main Office,  
117 Bien Venida Ave. Sinajana, Guam 96910 

fixinsix@ghura.org 

671-477-9851 

http://www.guamcdbgdr.org 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 30 of 70

mailto:cnmi-cdbg-dr@nmhcgov.net
http://guamcdbgdr.org/


GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-029 

 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE “DUPLICATION OF BENEFITS POLICY” FOR THE 
GUAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-DISASTER RECOVERY 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 GCA § 5104 the Board of Commissioners of the Guam 

Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (GHURA), is given the right and 
responsibility to govern and control the operations of the Authority, and to 
establish policies for its day-to-day operations, and generally to undertake 
its responsibilities as supreme authority for the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, 12 GCA § 5105(b) requires that GHURA comply with any Federal rules, 

requirements, regulations, or procedures and may execute declarations or 
other agreements or documents of every nature, as may be necessary, or 
required by the Federal Government and to fully comply with any conditions 
imposed by the Federal Government upon participation by GHURA in such 
programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 21, 2025, Guam was allocated the Community Development 

Block Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) in the amount of 
$500,825,000.00, to aid in the long-term recovery from Typhoon Mawar in 
May 2023, and the mitigation of future disasters to be administered by 
GHURA, and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to II.A.1.e of the Universal Notice (90 FR 4759), GHURA is 

required to have adequate policies and procedures to prevent the 

duplication of benefits; now, therefore be it, 
 

RESOLVED, that the Board approves the program specific “Duplication of Benefits Policy” 
appended herewith and shall be effective immediately; and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Executive Director may approve amendments to this policy on behalf 

of the Board of Commissioners as may be necessary or required, and shall 
report amendments to the Board of Commissioners when exercising this 
authority; and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Deputy Director, designated as the Grant Manager, shall promulgate 

and have published subsequent procedures derived from this policy. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 31 of 70



                      IN A SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – AUGUST 26, 2025 

                      PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

                      AYES:   

                      NAYES:   

                      ABSENT:   

                      ABSTAINED:   

 

                                                                                                 I certify that the foregoing is a full, true 

and correct copy of a Resolution duly 

adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of 

Commissioners on August 26, 2025.  

                                   (SEAL)  

                                        

              ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                                  Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 
    
  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 32 of 70



 

1 
 

 

Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority  
Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 

Recovery  
 

DUPLICATION OF BENEFITS POLICY  
 

Aug 14, 2025 

 

 

This policy stated herein is current as of August 14, 2025. The policy represents the current version 

of the Guam Housing and Renewal Authority’s (GHURA) CDBG-DR Duplication of Benefits Policy providing 

general guidance for the program. This Policy  will be reviewed periodically and updated as necessary. 

Therefore, users are strongly encouraged to visit our website: www.guamcdbgdr.org to access the latest 

version. 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 33 of 70

http://www.cnmi-cdbgdr.com/


 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Approval of Amendment History ..................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

3.0 Supplanting of Funds ....................................................................................................................... 5 

4.0 Calculation of Award and Identification of DOB .............................................................................. 5 

5.0 Types of Duplicative Funds .............................................................................................................. 6 

6.0 Exceptions ........................................................................................................................................ 6 

6.1 Payments Under the Uniform Relocation Act (URA) ................................................................... 6 

6.2 Multiple Disasters ........................................................................................................................ 7 

7.0 Subrecipient Compliance ................................................................................................................. 7 

7.1 Determining Subrecipient Compliance ........................................................................................ 9 

7.1.1 Monitoring Thresholds ............................................................................................................ 9 

7.1.2 Affordability Period Compliance ........................................................................................... 10 

7.1.3 Subrogation and Recapture of Funds .................................................................................... 10 

8.0 Duplication of Benefits Worksheets .............................................................................................. 11 

9.0 Conclusion ...................................................................................................................................... 11 

10.0 Contact Information ....................................................................................................................... 11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 34 of 70



 

3 
 

1.0 Approval of Amendment History 
 

Version Date Amendment Reference 
Version 1.0 8/26/2025 Initial 

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

Amended By:  

 

 

Fernando B. Esteves 
Grant Manager 
 

 

Approved By: 

 

Elizabeth F. Napoli     Certifying Date 
Executive Director      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 35 of 70



 

4 
 

2.0 Overview 

The Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 
Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) is responsible for administering the Community Development Block 
Grant-Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) funds allocated to Guam for long-term recovery efforts. 
These funds are subject to the requirements of the appropriations act and the “Universal 
Notice”.  

Under Section 312 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act of 1974 
(42 U.S.C. 5155), federal agencies are required to ensure that disaster recovery assistance does 
not duplicate benefits already received from other sources, such as insurance or other federal 
aid. This requirement, known as the Duplication of Benefits (DOB) prohibition, helps ensure that 
federal assistance is used to supplement, not replace, other disaster recovery resources (42 
U.S.C. 5170). The GHURA is prohibited from making a blanket determination that CDBG-DR 
assistance under one of its programs or activities does not duplicate another category or source 
of assistance. 

A DOB occurs when a person, household, business, or other entity receives disaster assistance 
from multiple sources for the same purpose, and the total amount received for that purpose is 
more than the total need. Common disaster assistance sources include, but are not limited to: 

• FEMA; 
• SBA; 
• NFIP; 
• HUD; 
• Central Office for Recovery, Reconstruction and Resiliency (COR3); 
• Increased Cost of Compliance (ICC); 
• United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE); 
• Private insurance; 
• Private and nonprofit disaster assistance; 
• Other public or private source; and 
• Legal settlement(s). 

Applicants must provide supporting documents, such as bank statements, award, or denial 
letters, to substantiate the amount, source, and use of any disaster recovery or mitigation 
funds received or were denied for the project. 

If the applicant’s costs for the activity will be reimbursed by Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) or another source of funding, the GHURA CDBG-DR or its subrecipients cannot 
provide the CDBG-DR assistance for those costs. If FEMA or other federal funds later cover the 
same costs paid by CDBG-DR, any duplicative CDBG-DR assistance must be repaid. Assistance 
can be provided when a survivor’s insurance or other resources only cover part of their 
disaster-related need. In those cases, federal aid used to fill the gap is not considered a 
duplication (42 U.S.C. 5155(b)(3)). 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 36 of 70



 

5 
 

Subrecipients, contractors, subcontractors, and partners must incorporate this policy into the 
design, administration, and related agreements for all CDBG-DR projects. A DOB analysis must 
be completed for every applicant before awarding CDBG-DR funds. 
 

3.0 Supplanting of Funds  

The CDBG-DR funds are intended to be the funding of last resort for eligible recovery activities. 
The GHURA CDBG-DR, its subrecipients, and individual beneficiaries shall not use CDBG-DR funds 
to supplant other funds allocated by State or local governments, designated for the same eligible 
activities. 

The GHURA CDBG-DR  will verify that CDBG-DR funds are not used for activities reimbursable 
by or for which funds are made available by Insurance, FEMA, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, or 
other federal funds. To avoid duplication, if FEMA or other programs are accepting applications 
for a project that is being considered for CDBG-DR funding, the GHURA CDBG-DR  will seek 
assistance from those sources before using CDBG-DR. Applicants must file an insurance claim 
if one has not yet been submitted, as part of the DOB review. The GHURA CDBG-DR  will 
establish, if it has not already done so, formal data- sharing agreements with FEMA, the Small 
Business Administration (SBA), insurers, and other sources of local, state, and federal sources 
of funding to support timely and accurate DOB verification. 

The GHURA CDBG-DR, its subrecipients, contractors, subcontractors, and partners will maintain 
program policies and procedures that describe the types of DOB that may arise and how each 
source of assistance will be verified. For example, applicants for public infrastructure projects 
must submit documentation of any FEMA Public Assistance (PA) funds received. The GHURA 
CDBG-DR  will then verify this information using data obtained through its agreement with 
FEMA. At any point during project implementation, the GHURA CDBG-DR  may request 
subrecipients to submit their DOB-related procedures and supporting documentation. 
 

4.0 Calculation of Award and Identification of DOB 

The total DOB amount is calculated by subtracting the exclusions from the applicant’s total 
assistance. The DOB calculation framework consists of five main steps: 

• Assessing an applicant’s total need; 
• Identifying total assistance available to the applicant; 
• Excluding non-duplicative amounts of financial assistance; 
• Identifying the DOB amount; and 
• Calculating the total CDBG-DR award. 

Several considerations that may change the maximum CDBG-DR award: 

• The GHURA CDBG-DR  is required to impose an award cap that limits the amount of 
assistance an applicant is eligible to receive; this may reduce the potential CDBG-DR 
assistance available to the applicant. 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 37 of 70



 

6 
 

• The GHURA CDBG-DR  may increase the amount of an award if the applicant 
agrees to repay duplicative assistance it receives in the future (unless prohibited 
by a statutory order of assistance, as in the requirement to use FEMA or USACE 
assistance). 

• The applicant’s CDBG-DR award may increase if a reassessment shows that the 
applicant has additional unmet need. 

The GHURA CDBG-DR  will incorporate HUD’s Duplication of Benefits Analysis Worksheet into 
the eligibility review process for all CDBG-DR applicants. Reference Appendix A for more 
details on the procedure for calculating CDBG-DR awards and identification of DOB. 

5.0 Types of Duplicative Funds 

 
The GHURA CDBG-DR will follow HUD’s definitions provided in the worksheet when conducting 
a DOB analysis. Types of assistance and key concepts to consider during a DOB analysis including: 

• Funds provided for different purpose than the CDBG-DR assistance; 
• Funds provided for the same purpose but a different allowable use; 
• Purpose of the assistance; 
• Insurance; 
• FEMA funds; 
• Order of assistance; 
• Cost principles; 
• Total need; 
• Unmet need; 
• Private loan; 
• Subsidized loan; 
• Declined loan; 
• Cancelled loan; and/or 
• Legal Settlement(s). 

 

6.0 Exceptions  

6.1 Payments Under the Uniform Relocation Act (URA) 

The URA ensures fair and equitable treatment for individuals and businesses displaced as a 
result of federally funded projects, including those supported by CDBG-DR. A person who has 
been displaced is allowed to receive rental assistance under the URA, as implemented at 49 
CFR Part 24. Relocation payments made under the URA and under CDBG’s optional relocation 
assistance provisions at 24 CFR 570.606(d) must comply with DOB requirements, including 
those outlined in 90 FR 1754 and under the URA. These rules prevent duplicate payments for 
the same need. To comply with CDBG-DR DOB requirements, the GHURA CDBG-DR must 
complete a DOB analysis before issuing rental assistance under the URA, as applicable to its 
programs. 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 38 of 70



 

7 
 

Note: Although CDBG-DR funds cannot duplicate other financial assistance for the same 
purpose, non-financial services, such as advisory assistance and required notices under the 
Uniform Relocation Act, are not subject to duplication of benefits analysis. These services must 
still be provided as required by the URA. 
 

6.2 Multiple Disasters 

When more than one disaster occurs in the same area and an applicant has not fully recovered 
from the first disaster before the second one hits, there is a risk that assistance from the second 
disaster could duplicate earlier aid for the same need. HUD recognizes that DOB reviews in these 
cases can be complicated. For example, damage from the second disaster might destroy work 
already completed with earlier assistance, or even destroy receipts and documents showing how 
that assistance was used. 
 

According to HUD’s Universal Notice (90 FR 1754), the GHURA CDBG-DR  is adopting the following 
policy for situations where two disasters affect the same location before the applicant has 
recovered from the first: 

Applicants do not have to maintain documentation of how they used public disaster funds (from 
federal, state, or local agencies) beyond the time period required by the agency that provided 
the funds. 
 
If applicants no longer have that documentation, the GHURA CDBG-DR  may accept a self- 
certification describing how the funds were used. 
 
This is allowed only if: 
 
The applicant is notified of the civil and criminal penalties for false claims and fraud, and 
the GHURA CDBG-DR  determines that the applicant’s stated needs are consistent with available 
data about the nature and extent of damage caused by the disasters (e.g., burn severity maps or 
damage assessment reports). 
 
For example, if a second disaster occurs three years after a previous one, and the earlier agency 
only required documentation to be kept for two years, the GHURA CDBG-DR  will allow self- 
certification. Likewise, if records were destroyed by the second disaster, we may also accept a 
self-certification.  
 

7.0 Subrecipient Compliance  

The GHURA CDBG-DR will be responsible for ensuring compliance by subcontractors and 
subrecipients. All applications for federal pass-through funding must show how the project 
meets a community need and helps prevent, prepare for, or respond to the disaster. 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 39 of 70



 

8 
 

Documentation submitted with an application will be reviewed utilizing the Duplication of 
Benefits Analysis Worksheet by the GHURA CDBG-DR  staff or contractors as part of the 
threshold requirements of the funding process. If it is determined that a duplication of benefits 
exists and there is no remaining unmet need, the application will not be recommended for 
approval. If there is a DOB and additional unmet needs, or no DOB at the time of application, 
the application may be recommended for potential funding. 

A second DOB review will be completed by the GHURA CDBG-DR  before finalizing the 
subrecipient agreement. During the agreement drafting process, the GHURA CDBG-DR  will 
update the Duplication of Benefits Analysis Worksheet to reflect the most current information 
for each conditionally selected subrecipient. Subrecipients are not required to complete the 
worksheet themselves but must provide any necessary documentation requested by the 
GHURA CDBG-DR  to support the review. 

Staff will review the forms, use the most recent available data from FEMA, the SBA, insurers, 
and any other sources of local, state, and federal funding to ensure that there is a continued 
unmet need, and no duplication has occurred. No agreement shall be executed if, since the 
date of application, a subrecipient has received funds from another source for the same need 
as requested during the application process. If funds from another source do not fully cover 
the unmet need, the GHURA CDBG-DR  may adjust the award amount to avoid providing more 
assistance than necessary and to ensure there is no duplication of benefits. 
 

All agreements with subrecipients, contractors or beneficiaries will include the following 
statement: 

  

 

 

 

“Warning: Any person who knowingly makes a false claim or statement to HUD or causes 

another to do so may be subject to civil or criminal penalties under 18 USC 2, 287, 1001 and 

31 USC 3729.” 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 40 of 70



 

9 
 

All applicants shall be required to sign, at the time of application, an affidavit as follows: 
 

 

7.1 Determining Subrecipient Compliance 

The monitoring period and thresholds for DOB repayment agreements will be based on the 
assessed risk level, primarily determined by the amount of CDBG-DR assistance awarded. When 
both award size and affordability requirements apply, the GHURA CDBG-DR  will enforce the 
more restrictive standard. 

 

7.1.1 Monitoring Thresholds 
• Awards of $25,000 or more: 

 Subject to annual monitoring for up to three years from the date of final 

 disbursement, or for the duration of the required affordability period, whichever is 
more stringent. 

• Awards between $5,000 and $24,999: 

 Will be reviewed and recertified at least once within two years of disbursement, or in    

 accordance with the affordability period, if applicable. 
• Awards under $5,000: 

 Not subject to ongoing monitoring unless specific risks are identified. These awards will 
be reviewed at closeout. 

 
The GHURA CDBG-DR reserves the right to conduct additional reviews at any time if 
new information indicates potential DOB risk. 

“I/We agree to notify the GHURA, within five (5) days of any additional or new payments, loans, 
grants, or awards by HUD, FEMA, the Small Business Administration, the state, or any other 
entity I/we have not specifically disclosed in this application. Further, I/we understand and 
acknowledge the County OOR or its subrecipient’s right and responsibility to enforce this 
requirement by recapturing all or a portion of the CDBG-DR award if the funds I/we receive are 
determined to be a duplication of the CDBG-DR benefit I/we are applying for with this application. 

“PENALTY FOR FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENT: USC Title 18, Sec 1001, provides: 
Whoever, in any matter, within the jurisdiction of any department or agency of the United States 
knowingly and willfully falsifies, makes any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or 
representation, or makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any 
false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry, shall be fined not more than $10,000 or 
imprisoned not more than five (5) years, or both. 

I/We have read and understand the foregoing statement. 

 

SIGNATURE:        DATE: 
 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 41 of 70



 

10 
 

7.1.2 Affordability Period Compliance 

For housing activities with affordability requirements, the GHURA CDBG-DR  will 
ensure compliance with the terms outlined in the Action Plan, HUD regulations. If a 
beneficiary fails to meet affordability conditions, recapture or repayment provisions 
may be triggered in accordance with this policy. 

 

7.1.3 Subrogation and Recapture of Funds 

All applicants and subrecipients must report any duplicative assistance they receive whether 
before or after accepting a CDBG-DR award. Any duplicative funds must be reported to the 
GHURA CDBG-DR  and may need to be repaid. All applicants and subrecipients are required to 
sign a Subrogation Agreement, committing to repay duplicative assistance if needed. If 
additional assistance is reported, the GHURA CDBG-DR  will evaluate the funding to determine 
whether it must be used first for the same recovery purpose as the CDBG-DR award (to prevent 
duplication of benefits), or whether it must be repaid to the GHURA CDBG-DR as 
reimbursement for previously disbursed CDBG-DR funds. 

If it is found that an applicant or subrecipient received more assistance than they were eligible 
for, the GHURA CDBG-DR  or its project team may require full or partial repayment. All programs 
are responsible for: 

• Recovering duplicative funds from applicants or non-compliant participants. 

• Reviewing and reconciling applicant files to ensure compliance with DOB rules and 
federal requirements. 

 
If a duplication of benefits or overpayment is identified, the applicant will be issued a written 
notice outlining the reason for the recapture and the total amount to be repaid. Applicants may 
appeal the overpayment notification through the designated appeals process detailed in the 
applicable programs’ policy and procedures. 

If the applicant does not submit an appeal within the specified timeframe, or if the appeal is 
denied, the program will proceed with recovery of the overpaid amount. Should the appeal 
result in a revised award or eligibility determination, the applicant will be required to sign an 
updated grant agreement reflecting the adjusted repayment amount. Repayments must be 
made in full, as a lump sum. 
However, if the applicant demonstrates financial hardship, the program may consider limited 
accommodations on a case-by-case basis. 

All funds recovered will be recorded in the Disaster Recovery Grant Reporting (DRGR) system and 
returned to the CDBG-DR account or the U.S. Treasury if the grant has been closed out. 

Under CDBG-DR Policy Bulletin 2025-01, the program will not pursue repayment of duplicative 
assistance in the following circumstances: 
• The beneficiary is later determined to be deceased; 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 42 of 70



 

11 
 

• The property is subject to foreclosure; 
• The beneficiary has filed for bankruptcy; or 

• The beneficiary is low- to moderate-income (LMI) and later receives federal assistance 
for the same purpose, which—if it had been received earlier—would have reduced the 
amount of the CDBG-DR or CDBG-MIT award. In such cases, repayment is not in the 
best interest of the federal government, and HUD policy exempts the first $27,000 of 
this duplicative federal assistance from collection. 

 
This LMI exemption applies only to duplicative federal assistance received after 
the CDBG-DR or CDBG-MIT award. It does not apply to: 
 

• Non-federal sources of duplicative aid (e.g., state, local, or private 
assistance), which must be handled through the GHURA CDBG-DR’s 
standard DOB collection process; or Fraud, false claims, or 
misrepresentation by the beneficiary or any party with an interest  in the 
claim. 

Note: This policy also allows grantees to forgo collection of small amounts of duplicative 
assistance when the administrative cost of recovery would exceed the amount owed. 
Additionally, these exceptions do not apply in cases where the duplication of benefits results 
from contractor fraud. Those cases must be handled separately in accordance with program 
fraud prevention and recovery procedures. 
 

8.0 Duplication of Benefits Worksheets  
 
GHURA CDBG-DR will use DOB worksheets indicated in program specific standard operating 
procedures. 
 

9.0 Conclusion 
 
By adhering to this Duplication of Benefits Policy, GHURA CDBG-DR aims to comply with the 
Stafford Act, the “Universal Notice” and federal guidelines. 

10.0 Contact Information 

Guam Housing Renewal 
Authority (GHURA)  

Community Development 
Block Grant Disaster 
Recovery (CDBG-DR)  

GHURA Main Office, 117 Bien Venida Ave. Sinajana, Guam 96910 

fixinsix@ghura.org 

671-477-9851 

http://www.guamcdbgdr.org 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 43 of 70

http://guamcdbgdr.org/


GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-030 

 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE “TIMELY EXPENDITURE OF GRANT FUNDS 
POLICY” FOR THE GUAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-DISASTER 
RECOVERY 

 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 GCA § 5104 the Board of Commissioners of the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (GHURA), is given the right and 
responsibility to govern and control the operations of the Authority, and to 
establish policies for its day-to-day operations, and generally to undertake 
its responsibilities as supreme authority for the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, 12 GCA § 5105(b) requires that GHURA comply with any Federal rules, 

requirements, regulations, or procedures and may execute declarations or 
other agreements or documents of every nature, as may be necessary, or 
required by the Federal Government and to fully comply with any conditions 
imposed by the Federal Government upon participation by GHURA in such 
programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 21, 2025, Guam was allocated the Community Development 

Block Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) in the amount of 
$500,825,000.00, to aid in the long-term recovery from Typhoon Mawar in 
May 2023, and the mitigation of future disasters to be administered by 
GHURA, and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to II.A.1.f of the Universal Notice (90 FR 4759), GHURA is 

required to have adequate policies and procedures to determine 
timely expenditures; now, therefore be it, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Board approves the program specific “Timely Expenditures of Grant 

Funds Policy” appended herewith, and shall be effective immediately; and be 
it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Executive Director may approve amendments to this policy on behalf 

of the Board of Commissioners as may be necessary or required, and shall 
report amendments to the Board of Commissioners when exercising this 
authority; and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Deputy Director, designated as the Grant Manager shall promulgate 

and have published subsequent procedures derived from this policy. 
 
 
 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 44 of 70



 
 

 
                      IN A SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – AUGUST 26, 2025 

                      PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

                      AYES:   

                      NAYES:   

                      ABSENT:   

                      ABSTAINED:   

 

                                                                                                 I certify that the foregoing is a full, true 

and correct copy of a Resolution duly 

adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of 

Commissioners on August 26, 2025.  

                                   (SEAL)  

                                        

              ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                                  Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 
    
  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 45 of 70



 

1 
 

 

Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority  
Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 

Recovery  
 

TIMELY EXPENDITURES OF GRANT FUNDS 
POLICY  

 

Aug 14, 2025 

 

The policy stated herein is current as of August 14, 2025. This policy represents the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 
Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) policy guiding the timely expenditure of grant funds. All policies 
will be reviewed periodically and updated. Therefore, users are strongly encouraged to visit 
our website: www.guamcdbgdr.org to access the latest version. 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 46 of 70

http://www.guamcdbg.org/


 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Approval of Amendment History ..................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Scope ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

4.0 Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

5.0 Policy Guidance ................................................................................................................................ 4 

6.0 Management of Procurement Expenditures ................................................................................... 4 

7.0 Tracking and Documenting Expenditures ........................................................................................ 5 

7.1 Projecting Expenditures............................................................................................................... 5 

8.0 Reprogramming of Funds ................................................................................................................ 6 

9.0 Conclusion ........................................................................................................................................ 6 

10.0 Contact Information ......................................................................................................................... 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 47 of 70



 

3 
 

1.0 Approval of Amendment History 
Version Date Amendment Reference 

Version 1.0 8/26/2025 Initial 

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

Amended By:  

 

 

Fernando B. Esteves 
Grant Manager 
 

 

Approved By: 

 

Elizabeth F. Napoli     Certifying Date   
Executive Director     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 48 of 70



 

4 
 

2.0 Purpose 

The purpose of this Timely Expenditures of Grant Funds Policy is to establish guidelines for the 
management, projection, tracking, and documenting of expenditures,  and reprogramming of 
funds within the Guam Housing and Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant- 
Disaster Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR).  

3.0 Scope 
This policy applies to all employees, contractors, and subrecipients of GHURA CDBG-DR. 

4.0 Overview 
The GHURA is the lead agency responsible for administering the CDBG-DR funds allocated to 
Guam for long-term recovery activities. These funds are subject to the requirements of the 
appropriations act, the Allocation Announcement Notice (90 FR 4759), and the Federal 
Register / Vol. 90, No. 5 (January 8, 2025), the “Universal Notice”, and subsequent 
amendments thereto. To ensure expenditure of all CDBG-DR funds within the required six (6)-
year period, GHURA CDBG-DR must submit projections regarding the obligation and 
expenditure of 100% of CDBG-DR funds over the life of the award, as well as the anticipated 
outcomes associated with program activities. These projections enable GHURA CDBG-DR and 
the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to evaluate progress on 
program activities and ensure recovery efforts are achieved within predetermined regulated 
timelines. To achieve these goals, GHURA CDBG-DR has established the following policies to 
implement strict guidelines for all GHURA CDBG-DR-administered projects and any grant 
agreements with subrecipients. In addition, GHURA CDBG-DR will provide technical assistance 
and support to all subrecipients as needed so that quarterly goals are met and funds are 
expended within all prescribed deadlines. 

5.0 Policy Guidance 
Per the Universal Notice, HUD waives the provisions at 24 CFR 570.494 and 24 CFR 570.902 
regarding timely distribution and expenditure of funds and establishes an alternative 
requirement providing that each grantee must expend 100 percent of its allocation within six (6) 
years of the date HUD signs the grant agreement. HUD may extend the Period of Performance 
(POP) administratively if good cause for such an extension is provided by the grantee and 
approved by HUD. When the POP has ended, HUD will close out the grant, and any remaining 
funds not expended by the grantee on appropriate programmatic purposes will be recaptured by 
HUD.  

The POP ending date for the CDBG-DR grant is March 07, 2031. GHURA CDBG-DR and its 
subrecipients are required to expend funds within their executed contracts, which will not exceed 
the POP’s ending date.  

6.0 Management of Procurement Expenditures 
For CDBG-DR procurements, the GHURA has adopted Federal procurement processes under 
II.A.1.B(i)(1) of the Universal Notice, authorized under 5 GCA § 5501 deemed necessary to 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 49 of 70



 

5 
 

comply with requirements under III.F.1 of the Universal Notice. These standards shall be 
applicable to GHURA CDBG-DR subrecipient. The GHURA preserves its authority under 12 GCA 
§§ 5105 and 5132(b), and responsibility under 2 CFR 200.318(k), ensuring the timely resolution 
of any contractual and administrative issues, avoiding unreasonable delays in timely 
expenditures. 

7.0 Tracking and Documenting Expenditures 
GHURA CDBG-DR’s Finance Section will manage the tracking and documentation of expenditures 
for the CDBG-DR grant in its designated accounting system and will appropriately record in the 
Disaster Recovery Grant Reporting (DRGR) system.  

7.1 Projecting Expenditures  

GHURA CDBG-DR proposed programs and projects, methods of distribution, and anticipated 
projections for the timely expenditure of funding to meet the six (6)-year deadline established in 
the Universal Notice. These projections will be based on each quarter’s expected performance, 
beginning when funds become available to Guam and continuing each quarter until all funds are 
expended. 

Since the exact timing of funding disbursements remains uncertain, the projections will reflect 
anticipated expenditures based on GHURA CDBG-DR’s best estimates. As activity data becomes 
available, GHURA CDBG-DR will update these projections, ensuring they align with actual 
performance. The published Action Plan will be amended as needed to accommodate changes, 
updates, or revisions to project and activity budgets, ensuring the timely expenditure of all funds.  

To develop and track these projections, GHURA CDBG-DR will utilize the CDBG-DR Grantee 
Projections of Expenditures and Outcomes template provided by HUD upon approval of the 
Action Plan. This approach will allow GHURA CDBG-DR to effectively plan for and manage the 
expenditure of 100% CDBG-DR funds, even with the uncertainties around the exact funding 
timeline. 

Each Subrecipient Agreement and Funding Agreement will outline benchmarks, draw schedules, 
and noncompliance processes for the project/activity. When sufficient progress is not being 
made and the project/activity is more than 90-days behind schedule, GHURA CDBG-DR staff will 
notify the contractor or subrecipient in writing detailing the lack of progress, possible corrective 
actions, possible conditions (if necessary), and the date when GHURA CDBG-DR will reevaluate 
progress. Upon the reevaluation of the progress of the project/activity, if the contractor or 
subrecipient is unable to complete grant activities in a timely manner, GHURA CDBG-DR reserves 
the right to reprogram the funds.  

In the event of an unanticipated termination of a subrecipient grant agreement, the subrecipient 
shall remit all program income to GHURA CDBG-DR within 30-days of the termination of the 
agreement.  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 50 of 70



 

6 
 

8.0 Reprogramming of Funds 

GHURA CDBG-DR will closely monitor activities to ensure milestones are being achieved and 
funds are expended accordingly. However, delays may occur, resulting in stalled activities. When 
a project is delayed for six (6) months, it will be flagged for more direct oversight. If a project is 
delayed for twelve (12) months, it will be revaluated for feasibility. A written determination shall 
be made by the Grant Manager whether the project remains feasible for continued funding or if 
funds must be reprogrammed based on associated risk to the timely expenditure of funds.   
 

When CDBG-DR funds must be reprogrammed, GHURA CDBG-DR will identify an activity/project 
from within a pool of previously received and vetted proposals, or a new Notice of Funding 
Availability (NOFA) will be issued in accordance with Procurement guidelines. Whenever possible, 
GHURA CDBG-DR will review existing projects for any additional funding gaps or the expansion 
of the existing scope of services that can be completed within the remaining expenditure 
timeline. Reprogrammed CDBG-DR funding will be awarded on a first come, first ready, first 
served basis in accordance with GHURA CDBG-DR implementation plan as outlined within the 
Action Plan and the remaining expenditure timeline. 

9.0 Conclusion 
By adhering to this Timely Expenditures of Grant Funds Policy, GHURA CDBG-DR aims to comply 
with the Universal Notice and federal guidelines. 

10.0 Contact Information 
Guam Housing Renewal Authority (GHURA)  

Community Development Block Grant Disaster 
Recovery (CDBG-DR)  

GHURA Main Office  
  117 Bien Venida Ave. Sinajana, Guam 96910 

fixinsix@ghura.org 

671-477-9851 

http://www.guamcdbgdr.org 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 51 of 70

http://guamcdbgdr.org/


GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-031 

 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE “PROGRAM INCOME POLICY” FOR THE GUAM 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-DISASTER RECOVERY 

 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 GCA § 5104 the Board of Commissioners of the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (GHURA), is given the right and 
responsibility to govern and control the operations of the Authority, and to 
establish policies for its day-to-day operations, and generally to undertake 
its responsibilities as supreme authority for the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, 12 GCA § 5105(b) requires that GHURA comply with any Federal rules, 

requirements, regulations, or procedures and may execute declarations or 
other agreements or documents of every nature, as may be necessary, or 
required by the Federal Government and to fully comply with any conditions 
imposed by the Federal Government upon participation by GHURA in such 
programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 21, 2025, Guam was allocated the Community Development 

Block Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) in the amount of 
$500,825,000.00, to aid in the long-term recovery from Typhoon Mawar in 
May 2023, and the mitigation of future disasters to be administered by 
GHURA, and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to II.A.1.f.ii of the Universal Notice (90 FR 4759), GHURA is 

required to properly report, track, and expend program income, 
ensuring substantial disbursement before making additional 
withdrawals; now, therefore be it, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Board approves the program specific “Program Income Policy” 

appended herewith and shall be effective immediately; and be it further, 
 
RESOLVED, that the Executive Director may approve amendments to this policy on behalf 

of the Board of Commissioners as may be necessary or required, and shall 
report amendments to the Board of Commissioners when exercising this 
authority; and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Deputy Director, designated as the Grant Manager, shall promulgate 

and have published subsequent procedures derived from this policy. 
 

 
 
 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 52 of 70



 
 

 
                      IN A SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – AUGUST 26, 2025 

                      PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

                      AYES:   

                      NAYES:   

                      ABSENT:   

                      ABSTAINED:   

 

                                                                                                 I certify that the foregoing is a full, true 

and correct copy of a Resolution duly 

adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of 

Commissioners on August 26, 2025.  

                                   (SEAL)  

                                        

              ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                                  Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 
    
  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 53 of 70



 

1 
 

 

Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority  
Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 

Recovery  
 

PROGRAM INCOME POLICY  
 

Aug 14, 2025 

 

The policy stated herein is current as of August 14, 2025. This policy represents the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 
Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) policy guiding the tracking and expenditure of Program Income. 
All policies will be reviewed periodically and updated. Therefore, users are strongly 
encouraged to visit our website: www.guamcdbgdr.org to access the latest version. 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 54 of 70

http://www.guamcdbg.org/


 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Approval of Amendment History ..................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Scope ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

4.0 Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

5.0 Definitions ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

6.0 Policy Guidance ................................................................................................................................ 5 

7.0 Responsibilities ................................................................................................................................ 6 

8.0 Tracking and Reporting .................................................................................................................... 7 

9.0 Conclusion ........................................................................................................................................ 7 

10.0 Contact Information ......................................................................................................................... 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 55 of 70



 

3 
 

1.0 Approval of Amendment History 
Version Date Amendment Reference 

Version 1.0 8/26/2025 Initial 

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

Amended By:  

 

 

Fernando B. Esteves 
Grant Manager 
 

 

Approved By: 

 

Elizabeth F. Napoli     Certifying Date 
Executive Director     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 56 of 70



 

4 
 

2.0 Purpose 

The purpose of this Program Income Policy is to establish guidelines, responsibilities, and 
procedures for tracking and reporting within the GHURA CDBG-DR. 

3.0 Scope 
This policy applies to all employees and subrecipients of the GHURA CDBG-DR. 

4.0 Overview 
The GHURA CDBG-DR is responsible for the oversight of the CDBG-DR funds and any Program 
Income derived from the grant. This document is consistent with federal guidelines and 
provides further clarity on the use and management of Program Income generated from 
Guam’s CDBG-DR grant. 

5.0 Definitions 
HUD defines CDBG-DR Program Income in the Universal Notice, adapted below. 

A. Program income is defined as gross income generated from the use of CDBG–DR funds 
(except as provided below under “Exceptions”) and received by State or local government 
grantees, including subrecipients. When program income is generated by an activity that 
is only partially assisted with CDBG–DR funds, the income shall be prorated to reflect the 
percentage of CDBG–DR funds used (e.g., a single loan supported by CDBG–DR funds and 
other funds, or a single parcel of land purchased with CDBG–DR funds and other funds). 
If CDBG funds are used with CDBG–DR funds on an activity, any income earned on the 
CDBG portion would not be subject to the waiver and alternative requirement in the 
Universal Notice. Program income includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 
1. Proceeds from the disposition by sale or long-term lease of real property purchased 

or improved with CDBG–DR funds. 
2. Proceeds from the disposition of equipment purchased with CDBG–DR funds. 
3. Gross income from the use or rental of real or personal property acquired by State or 

unit of general local government grantees, including subrecipients, with CDBG–DR 
funds, less costs incidental to generation of the income. 

4. Gross income from the use or rental of real property owned by State or local 
government grantees, including subrecipients, that was constructed or improved with 
CDBG–DR funds, less costs incidental to the generation of the income. 

5. Payments of principal and interest on loans made using CDBG–DR funds, including 
interest paid by borrowers on loans made from a revolving fund, if applicable. 

6. Proceeds from the sale of loans made with CDBG–DR funds. 
7. Proceeds from the sale of obligations secured by loans made with CDBG–DR funds. 
8. Interest earned on program income pending disposition of the income, including 

interest earned on funds held in a revolving fund, if applicable. 
9. Interest earned on lump sum drawdowns for financing of property rehabilitation 

activities as described in 24 CFR 570.513. 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 57 of 70



 

5 
 

10. Funds collected through special assessments made against nonresidential properties 
and properties owned and occupied by non-LMI households, where the special 
assessments are used to recover all or part of the CDBG–DR portion of a public 
improvement. 

11. Gross income paid to a State or local government grantee, including subrecipients, 
from the ownership interest in a for-profit entity in which the income is in return for 
the provision of CDBG–DR assistance. 

12. Any income received by State or local government grantees related to the CDBG–DR 
grant after closeout, including income received by subrecipients after closeout. 
 

B. Exceptions. Program Income does not include the following: 
 
1. The total amount of funds that is less than $35,000 received over the life of the grant 

and   retained by State or local government grantees, including subrecipients. Once a 
grantee, including subrecipients, meets or exceeds the $35,000 threshold, only funds 
over the threshold are considered program income and are subject to the 
requirements of Universal Notice. 

2. Amounts generated by activities eligible under section 105(a)(15) of the HCDA (42 
U.S.C. 5305(a)(15) and carried out by an entity under the authority of section 
105(a)(15) of the HCDA. 

3. Income (except for interest described in 24 CFR 570.513) earned on grant advances 
from the U.S. Treasury; this income must be remitted to HUD for transmittal to the 
U.S. Treasury. 

6.0 Policy Guidance  
Permission to retain and use Program Income generated from CDBG-DR activities varies 

depending upon the grantee and the funded activity. The GHURA CDBG-DR shall permit a 

subrecipient that receives or will receive program income to retain it or shall require them to pay 

the program income to GHURA CDBG-DR. 

A. Use of Program Income 
 
1. Program income that is paid to the GHURA CDBG-DR before or after closeout of the 

grant that generated the program income, and used to continue disaster recovery 
activities, is treated as additional disaster recovery CDBG funds subject to the 
requirements of the Universal Notice and must be used per the GHURA CDBG-DR’s 
Action Plan for Disaster Recovery. To the maximum extent feasible, program income 
shall be used or distributed before additional withdrawals from the U.S. Treasury are 
made, unless the GHURA CDBG-DR establishes a revolving loan fund to carry out 
specific, identified activities. 

2. Program income paid to the GHURA CDBG-DR can be used to fund any eligible 
activities that are in an open obligation round at the time of receiving the program 
income. Program income is also subject to the general administration cap of 5% per 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 58 of 70



 

6 
 

Universal Notice. Thus, the total of all costs charged to the grant (whether paid out of 
grant funds or program income) and classified as general administration must be less 
than or equal to the 5% cap. 

B. Transfer of Program Income 

1. Program income received by the GHURA CDBG-DR before or after closeout, including 
program income received by subrecipients, shall be transferred by the GHURA CDBG-
DR to the annual CDBG program before or after closeout of the grant that generated 
the program income. In all cases, the GHURA CDBG-DR must first seek and then 
receive HUD’s approval; 

2. Any program income transferred will not be subject to the waivers and alternative 
requirements of the Universal Notice. Rather, those funds will be subject to the 
applicable regular CDBG program rules. Any other transfer of program income not 
specifically addressed in the Universal Notice shall be carried out if the GHURA CDBG-
DR first seeks and then receives HUD’s approval; and 

3. The GHURA CDBG-DR must continue to report annually in the Disaster Recovery Grant 
Reporting (DRGR) system on any program income received following the closeout of 
the grant. 

C. Revolving Loan Funds 

 No Revolving Loan Funds have been established with CDBG-DR grant funds. Funds 
transferred to annual CDBG appropriations shall be applied to new or existing 
Revolving Loan Funds and are subject to the Program Income guidelines of the 
receiving program. 

7.0 Responsibilities 
The GHURA CDBG-DR is responsible for the overall management of Program Income and ensuring 
agency policies and practices are consistent with federal guidelines and the Action Plan. The 
CDBG-DR Grant Manager shall: 

A. Approve the transfer of CDBG-DR program income to the annual CDBG program  
or specific CDBG activities; 

B. Approve the establishment of a Revolving Loan Fund (if applicable); and/or 
C. Prioritize the use of program income for disaster-related activities using the  

following criteria: 
1. For activities generating program income with draws anticipated to exceed 

that Program Income within the next 30-days, the subrecipient will keep 
the Program Income, and the next draw from the Treasury will be reduced 
by that amount. 

2. For activities without anticipated draws within the next 30-days, Program 
Income will be returned to the GHURA CDBG-DR and be credited towards 
other disaster-related activities using the following precedence: 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 59 of 70



 

7 
 

i. Credited to another activity within the same program; 
ii. Credited to another activity in a different program managed by the 

same Agency; or 
iii. Credited to the next activity with a draw large enough to cover the 

program income as determined by the CDBG-DR Grant Manager and 
Deputy Controller. 
 

D. Use of Program Income 
 

Program income that is paid to the GHURA CDBG-DR before or after closeout of 
the grant that generated the program income, and used to continue disaster 
recovery activities, is treated as additional disaster recovery CDBG funds subject 
to the requirements of the Universal Notice and must be used per the GHURA 
CDBG-DR’s Action Plan for Disaster Recovery. To the maximum extent feasible, 
program income shall be used or distributed before additional withdrawals from 
the U.S. Treasury are made unless the GHURA CDBG-DR establishes a revolving 
loan fund to carry out specific, identified activities. 

8.0 Tracking and Reporting 

The GHURA CDBG-DR Accounting Division will manage all program income received and returned 
to the CDBG-DR grant, ensuring it is received in the designated accounting system and 
appropriately coded in the DRGR system. 

The GHURA CDBG-DR will maintain responsibility for receiving reports from their subrecipients 
in accordance with their grant agreements and policies and procedures. These reports will be 
included within the request for reimbursements, along with any other documentation as deemed 
necessary by the GHURA CDBG-DR. Any Program Income generated through CDBG-DR funds that 
are subsequently transferred to the annual CDBG program will be subject to the policies and 
procedures of Program Income under the annual appropriation. 

9.0 Conclusion 
By adhering to this Timely Expenditures of Grant Funds Policy, the GHURA CDBG-DR aims to 
comply with the Universal Notice and federal guidelines. 

10.0 Contact Information 
Guam Housing Renewal 
Authority (GHURA)  

Community Development 
Block Grant Disaster 
Recovery (CDBG-DR)  

GHURA Main Office, 117 Bien Venida Ave. Sinajana, Guam 96910 

fixinsix@ghura.org 

671-477-9851 

http://www.guamcdbgdr.org  

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 60 of 70

http://guamcdbgdr.org/


GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-032 

 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE “CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY” FOR THE 
GUAM COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-DISASTER RECOVERY 

 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 GCA § 5104 the Board of Commissioners of the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (GHURA), is given the right and 
responsibility to govern and control the operations of the Authority, and to 
establish policies for its day-to-day operations, and generally to undertake 
its responsibilities as supreme authority for the Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, 12 GCA § 5105(b) requires that GHURA comply with any Federal rules, 

requirements, regulations, or procedures and may execute declarations or 
other agreements or documents of every nature, as may be necessary, or 
required by the Federal Government and to fully comply with any conditions 
imposed by the Federal Government upon participation by GHURA in such 
programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 21, 2025, Guam was allocated the Community Development 

Block Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) in the amount of 
$500,825,000.00, to aid in the long-term recovery from Typhoon Mawar in 
May 2023, and the mitigation of future disasters to be administered by 
GHURA, and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to II.A.1.d.2 of the Universal Notice (90 FR 4759), GHURA 

is required to have a written standard of conduct and conflicts of 
interest policy that complies with 24 CFR 570.611 and 2 CFR 
200.318; now, therefore, be it, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Board approves the program specific “Conflict of Interest Policy” 

appended herewith, and shall be effective immediately; and be it further, 
 
RESOLVED, that the Executive Director may approve amendments to this policy on behalf 

of the Board of Commissioners as may be necessary or required, and shall 
report amendments to the Board of Commissioners when exercising this 
authority; and be it further, 

 
RESOLVED, that the Deputy Director, designated as the Grant Manager, shall promulgate 

and have published subsequent procedures derived from this policy. 
 
 

 
 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 61 of 70



 
 
 

 
                      IN A SCHEDULED BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – AUGUST 26, 2025 

                      PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

                      AYES:   

                      NAYES:   

                      ABSENT:   

                      ABSTAINED:   

 

                                                                                                 I certify that the foregoing is a full, true 

and correct copy of a Resolution duly 

adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of 

Commissioners on August 26, 2025.  

                                   (SEAL)  

                                        

              ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                                  Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 
    
  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 62 of 70



 

 

 

Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority  
Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 

Recovery  
 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY  
 

Aug 14, 2025 

 

The policy stated herein is current as of August 14, 2025. This policy represents the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority Community Development Block Grant-Disaster 
Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR) policy, which provides for the standards of conduct regarding 
Conflicts of Interest (COI). This policy will be reviewed periodically and updated as necessary. 
Therefore, users are strongly encouraged to visit our website: www.guamcdbgdr.org to access 
the latest version. 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 63 of 70

http://www.guamcdbg.org/


 

 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Approval of Amendment History ..................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Scope ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

4.0 Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

5.0 Definitions ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

6.0 Covered Individuals and their Immediate Family ............................................................................ 4 

7.0 General Prohibitions ........................................................................................................................ 5 

8.0 Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................................................ 5 

9.0 Exceptions ........................................................................................................................................ 6 

10.0 Public Notice Requirement .............................................................................................................. 6 

11.0 Awareness and Prevention .............................................................................................................. 7 

12.0 Addressing Conflicts of Interest ....................................................................................................... 7 

13.0 Conclusion ........................................................................................................................................ 8 

14.0 Contact Information ......................................................................................................................... 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 64 of 70



 

 

1.0 Approval of Amendment History 
Version Date Amendment Reference 

Version 1.0 8/26/2025 Initial 

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

Amended By:  

 

 

Fernando B. Esteves 

Grant Manager 

 

 

Approved By: 

 

Elizabeth F. Napoli 

Executive Director     Certifying Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 65 of 70



 

 

2.0 Purpose 

The purpose of this COI Policy serves as the Standard of Conduct establishing prohibitions, 
requirements, and responsibilities within the Guam Housing and Renewal Authority Community 
Development Block Grant-Disaster Recovery (GHURA CDBG-DR). This policy shall be in 
congruence with Guam law, 24 CFR 570.611, and 2 CFR 200.318. 

3.0 Scope 
This policy applies to all covered individuals and their immediate family as defined in section 5.0 
of this policy and is intended to supplement the Government of Guam Standard of Conduct 
provided in Chapter 15 of Title 4 of the Guam Code Annotated. 

4.0 Overview 
The GHURA is responsible for the oversight of the CDBG-DR funds and the prevention of 
conflicts of interest derived from the grant. This policy is consistent with federal guidelines and 
provides further clarity on the coverage, prohibition, and prevention of conflicts of interest 
inherent with the administration of Guam’s CDBG-DR grant. 

5.0 Definitions 
Covered Individual: A covered individual is any person who is an employee, agent, consultant, 
contractor, officer, or an appointed or elected official of the Government of Guam, or a 
subrecipient who: 

a. Exercises, has exercised, or is reasonable expected to exercise any function or 
responsibility with respect to assisted activities; or 

b. Is in a position to participate in a decision-making process; or 
c. Is in a position to gain inside information with regard to such activities. 

Immediate Family: Immediate family includes (whether by blood, marriage, or adoption) the 
spouse, spouse by common-law, parent (including stepparent and in-law), child (including 
stepchild and in-law), brother, sister (including stepbrother, stepsister, brother-in-law, and sister-
in-law), grandparent, and grandchild of a covered individual. 

6.0 Covered Individuals and their Immediate Family 

The following list is by no means exhaustive and should be interpreted as giving a wide berth 
based on the definition provided above: 

1. Governor of Guam; 
2. Lieutenant Governor of Guam; 
3. Delegate to the House of Representatives; 
4. Attorney General of Guam; 
5. Members of the Guam Legislature; 
6. Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority Board of Commissioners; 
7. Executive Director of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority; 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 66 of 70



 

 

8. Deputy Director of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority; and 
9. All program staff, agents, or consultants of Guam’s CDBG-DR grant and its 

subrecipients. 

7.0 General Prohibitions 
Unless otherwise approved by HUD, a covered individual is prohibited from obtaining financial 
interest, benefiting from an activity, or having a financial interest in any contract, subcontract, or 
agreement with respect thereto, or the proceeds thereunder, either for himself or herself, or for 
those whom he or she has immediate family or business ties, during his or her tenure or for one 
(1) year thereafter. 

8.0 Roles and Responsibilities 

Roles Responsibilities Details 

Grant 
Manager  

• Oversight of policy 
compliance. 

• Reviews and 
approves 
submissions. 

• Submits requests for 
exceptions to HUD. 

• Initiates disciplinary 
actions for policy 
violations. 

• Evaluates processes and 
procedures. 

• Conducts investigations as 
necessary. 

• Makes a written 
determination on whether 
an exception is supported 
by published criteria. 

Legal 
Counsel  

• Reviews requests for 
exceptions for 
legality under Guam 
law.  

• Prepares a legal opinion to 
accompany requests 
submitted for HUD 
approval. 

Program 
Staff 

• Reports any 
potential conflicts, 
whether real or 
apparent, to their 
immediate 
supervisor when 
they become aware.   

• Receives division updates 
and other information 
that will be uploaded onto 
the CDBG-DR website and 
presents them to the 
Grant Manager for review 
and approval.  

Program 
Managers 
and 
Supervisors 

• Refer reported 
conflicts to the Grant 
Manager.  

• Responsible for providing 
accurate up- to-date 
content covering 
respective 
sections/divisions.  

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 67 of 70



 

 

9.0 Exceptions 

The GHURA does not have authority to grant exceptions independently. The Grant Manager shall 
review requests and make a recommendation, but final approval rests with HUD. When 
reviewing requests for exceptions to conflict-of-interest restrictions, the Grant Manager will 
apply criteria consistent with HUD guidance.  

An exception request may be submitted to HUD only if the Grant Manager determines that it 
supports the objectives of the CDBG-DR program and contributes to effective and efficient 
program administration.  

The Grant Manager will consider the following factors in making its recommendation:  

• Whether the exception would result in substantial cost savings or provide critical 
expertise that is not otherwise available to the program.  

• Whether the affected party was selected through a fair and open competitive process, 
such as public bidding or solicitation.  

• Whether the individual requesting the exception is a member of the intended low- or 
moderate-income beneficiary group and would receive the same benefits made available 
to others in that group.  

• Whether the covered individual has recused themselves from all duties and decision-
making responsibilities related to the specific program activity.  

• Whether the financial interest or benefit existed before the individual assumed their 
current position or role.  

• Whether denying the exception would cause significant hardship to the recipient or 
individual, and whether that hardship outweighs the public interest in avoiding conflicts 
of interest.  

• Any other relevant information or circumstances specific to the request.  

The Grant Manager’s final review and recommendation to approve with an opinion from the 
GHURA’s Legal Counsel must be thoroughly documented preceding a submission to HUD. All 
exception decisions will comply with applicable federal regulations, including 24 CFR 570.611 and 
2 CFR 200.318, and be retained in the official program record. 

10.0 Public Notice Requirement 

Any request for exception to a conflict of interest shall be publicly disclosed through at least two 
of the following methods: 

1. During a publicly noticed meeting; 
2. On the GHURA CDBG-DR website; 
3. In a publicly accessible program reports or notices; or 
4. Through publication in a local newspaper.  

The disclosure must be clearly documented, including a description of how and when it was 
made, along with supporting materials such as meeting minutes, screenshots, publication dates, 
or copies of the public notice.  

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 68 of 70



 

 

HUD will consider an exception only after the GHURA has provided:  

• A disclosure of the nature of the conflict accompanied by supporting documents that 
there has been public disclosure of the conflict and a description of how the public 
disclosure was made;  

• A recommendation by the Grant Manager that the exception supports the objectives of 
the CDBG-DR program and contributes to effective and efficient program administration; 
and 

• An opinion of the GHURA’s Legal Counsel that the interest for which the exception is 
sought would not violate Guam law.   

This policy does not automatically preclude covered individuals and their immediate family from 
participating in the program or receiving assistance, as long as all eligibility criteria are met and 
HUD grants an exception to the conflict-of-interest. Covered individuals shall disclose their 
relationship with a covered individual at the time of their application. Any exception granted will 
be documented and maintained according to applicable federal and local regulations.  

11.0 Awareness and Prevention 

All program staff and subrecipients shall be required to submit a conflict-of-interest disclosure. 
Program staff, subrecipients, and all other covered individuals are required to report situations 
where a conflict of interest may occur upon being made aware. Reports should be made to an 
immediate supervisor or the appropriate program manager who will then forward to the Grant 
Manager for review and action.  

Failure to disclose a conflict of interest may result in corrective action which may include, but is 
not limited to, employee reassignment, contract termination, subrogation, or disciplinary action. 

A listing of all program staff and subrecipients shall be made available on GHURA’s CDBG-DR 
website for public inspection. GHURA will undertake a public awareness campaign to ensure the 
public is informed about covered individuals and procedures.  

12.0 Addressing Conflicts of Interest 

Upon disclosure, a referral will be made to the Grant Manager. If a conflict is determined to exist, 
the Grant Manager will take appropriate action to address the conflict, which may include:  

• Reassignment of duties or responsibilities to avoid any conflict; 
• Recusal from decision-making or evaluation processes; 
• Termination of involvement in the specific transaction or activity; and/or  
• Implementation of other corrective actions as necessary to mitigate any real or perceived 

conflicts.  
 
For conflicts involving the Grant Manager, the referral shall be made to the GHURA Executive 
Director and Legal Counsel. All disclosed conflicts of interest, the review process, and any 
corrective actions taken shall be documented and maintained in accordance with applicable 
federal and Guam law retention policies. Failure to comply with this conflict-of-interest 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 69 of 70



 

 

statement may result in corrective, disciplinary, or punitive actions. The GHURA will ensure all 
personnel are informed of this policy and understand its importance in maintaining the integrity 
of the CDBG-DR program. 

13.0 Conclusion 
By adhering to this Conflict-of-Interest Policy, GHURA CDBG-DR aims to comply with the Universal 
Notice and federal guidelines. 

14.0 Contact Information 
Guam Housing Renewal Authority (GHURA)  

Community Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery 
(CDBG-DR)  

GHURA Main Office  
  117 Bien Venida Ave.  
Sinajana, Guam 96910 

fixinsix@ghura.org 

671-477-9851 

http://www.guamcdbgdr.org 

 

Board Meeting of August 26, 2025 PAGE 70 of 70

http://guamcdbgdr.org/



